
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURP 5=23279SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORI D

Case No.

TRACFONE WIRELESS, INC .

Plaintiff,

vs .

SOL WIRELESS GROUP, INC .,
CARLOS PINO, JORGE ROMERO ,

Defendants .

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Plaintiff TracFone Wireless Inc . ("TracFone") hereby sues Sol Wireless Group, Inc . ("Sol

Wireless"), Carlos Pino, and Jorge Romero (collectively, "Defendants"), and states :

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUN D

1 . This is an action for injunctive relief and damages arising out of Defendants'

infringement of TracFone's trademarks and other rights in wireless telephones made by Nokia

for TracFone to enable consumers to use TracFone's prepaid wireless service . As set forth in

this Complaint, Defendants are engaged in an unauthorized and illegal wireless telephone

business dependent on handset or phone software computer hacking, the alteration of TracFone's

proprietary handset or phone software computer code, infringement of TracFone's incontestable

trademarks, unfair competition and violations of other state and federal laws .
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2. Defendants perpetrate their unlawful business practices by purchasing TracFone

prepaid wireless telephones from retail stores such as Wal-Mart, Target or Sam's Club, hacking

into and erasing or disabling the TracFone proprietary prepaid software that enables consumers

to access TracFone's prepaid wireless service, and then reselling the wireless telephones as new

for use on other wireless carriers' networks/systems . Together with now unknown civil

conspirators, Defendants' misconduct is causing TracFone to incur millions of dollars in losses .

PARTIES , JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3 . TracFone is a Florida corporation , with its principal place of business in Miami,

Florida .

4. On information and belief, Sol Wireless is Florida corporation , with its principal

place of business in Miami, Flo rida.

5. On information and belief, Carlos Pino is the President of Sol Wireless and is a

resident of Florida .

6. On information and belief, Jorge Romero is the Vice President of Sol Wireless

and is a resident of Florida .

7. Jurisdiction in this Court is proper pursuant to 28 U.S .C. §§ 1331, 1338, and 17

U.S .C . § 1203 because TracFone's claims for violations of the United States Copyright Act and

the United States Trademark Act arise under federal law. This Court has supplemental

jurisdiction pursu ant to 28 U .S .C. § 1367 over TracFone ' s state law claims because those claims

are so related to the federal claims that they form pa rt of the same case or controversy .

8 . Venue is proper pursu ant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 1400 because the

Defendants reside in the Southern District of Florida , a substantial part of the events or omissions
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giving rise to the claims occurred in this judicial district, and there is no district in which the

action may otherwise be brought .

GENERAL ALLEGATION S

9. TracFone is the largest provider of prepaid wireless telephone service in the

United States . TracFone's service enables its customers to prepay for their wireless service by

purchasing airtime cards and specially manufactured wireless phones . Customers load airtime

into their TracFone wireless phones using codes generated from the PIN numbers found on the

airtime cards . TracFone wireless phones and airtime cards are sold through major national

retailers such as Wal-Mart, Target, and Sam's Club .

10. Among the manufacturers that produce wireless phones for TracFone is Nokia .

Nokia installs at its factories special proprietary prepaid software, developed and owned by

TracFone ("TracFone Prepaid Software"), into wireless phones sold to TracFone

("TracFone/Nokia prepaid phones") . The proprietary TracFone Prepaid Software prevents the

phones from being used without loading airtime minutes from a TracFone prepaid airtime card .

11 . TracFone sells its TracFone/Nokia prepaid phones to consumers for substantially

less than it pays to purchase them from Nokia . TracFone recoups its losses on the sale of its

TracFone/Nokia prepaid phones by earning its profits through the sale of prepaid airtime cards

required to make and receive calls .

12 . As set forth in more detail below, Defendants have engaged in an unlawful

practice of purchasing discounted TracFone/Nokia prepaid phones at retail outlets, hacking into

and removing the TracFone Prepaid Software thereby preventing their use for accessing the

TracFone service and allowing their use with other services, and reselling the unlawfully

unlocked phones as new for a substantial profit .
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13 . Defendants' actions have substantially harmed TracFone by, inter alia, depriving

TracFone of the opportunity to recoup its losses on the sale of its TracFone/Nokia prepaid

phones and to earn profits by providing wireless service to those phones. Defendants' actions

also substantially harm consumers who ultimately purchase TracFone handsets that have been

improperly unlocked . These phones will not work as intended, and are unable to access

TracFone's prepaid wireless service .

ALLEGATIONS REGARDING SOL WIRELES S

14 . In August 2005 TracFone was made aware that Sol Wireless had purchased large

quantities of TracFone prepaid wireless phones in the Miami, Florida area.

15. TracFone retained a private investigator firm to determine whether Defendants

were misusing its prepaid wireless handsets .

16. The investigators contacted Sol Wireless and arranged for the purchase several

Nokia 1100 wireless phones and several Nokia 2600 wireless phones .

17. While at Sol Wireless, one of the investigators observed defendant Pino take a

Nokia 1100 wireless handset out of a plastic bag, remove the back cover of the phone, and insert

a small, black, square-shaped device approximately three inches in diameter into the back of the

wireless phone where the battery is located . The device was then connected by a black curled

cord, similar to a telephone cord, to the back of a computer located on top of the desk . After a

short time, the device was removed from the back of the wireless phone . This action took

approximately one to two minutes to accomplish . Pino performed the same process on each of

Nokia wireless phones purchased by the investigator . The phones, along with a battery and

charger, were then packaged in Nokia container boxes .
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18. The investigator then purchased the Nokia wireless phones . Pino printed a Sol

Wireless invoice which contained the models that were purchased and the statement "One year

guarantee from Nokia and 30 days from Sol Wireless" printed in Spanish. The invoice listed the

Nokia 1100's as "Nokia 1100 New" and described them as "New Handset[s] ." The Nokia

2600's were described as "new complete ."

19. While inside Pino's office, the investigator observed unfolded Nokia container

boxes. The Nokia container boxes used to package the phones the investigator purchased, as

well as the unfolded Nokia boxes, were missing general phone information such as the IMEI

Number and the UPC Barcode. The Nokia container boxes did, however, contain the reflective

Nokia brand stickers .

20. The phones purchased from Sol Wireless were then delivered to TracFone

headquarters for examination by TracFone's technicians and fraud analyst experts . TracFone's

experts concluded after reviewing the IMEI Numbers located on each phone that the phones

were manufactured by Nokia for TracFone, and had originally been programmed with the

TracFone Prepaid Software . The phones had the TracFone name and logo on the bottom and the

back of each handset, also indicating that they were manufactured by Nokia for TracFone .

TracFone's proprietary prepaid software had been disabled or erased, and could no longer access

the TracFone prepaid wireless service . The phones were also "unlocked," permitting them to be

used on virtually any carrier's network .

COUNT ONE
FEDERAL TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT

21 . TracFone incorporates and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-20 above .
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22. TracFone is one of the oldest and leading providers of national prepaid wireless

services . TracFone has used, and continues to use, trademarks in commerce including the mark

TRACFONE. In part icular , TracFone owns and has so used the registered trademarks identified

below :

A. Incontestable United States Trademark Registration No . 2,114,692,

issued November 18, 1997, for TRACFONE, used in connection with

prepaid airtime cellular telephones and cellular telephone accessories, in

international category 9 ; for cellphone telephone services and providing

monitoring and control services for use in connection with prepaid airtime

cellular phones and debit cards, in international category 38 ; and

wholesale distributorship featuring the same, in international category 42,

issued on November 18, 1997 and based on dates of first use in June,

1996.

B. Incontestable United States Trademark Registration No . 2,71,017,

issued September 9, 2003, for TRACFONE and Design, used in

connection with prepaid air time cellular telephones and cellular telephone

accessories in international category 9 ; for on-line retail store services

featuring the same, in category 35 ; and for cellular telephone services and

monitoring and control services for use in conjunction with prepaid

airtime cellular phones and debit cards, in category 38, issued on

September 9, 2003 and based on dates of first use in December, 2001 .

23 . TracFone's aforementioned marks constitute the lawful, valued, subsisting and

exclusive property of TracFone, and as a result of the high quality of TracFone's services, sales,
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promotion and advertising thereof, the marks have become an intrinsic and essential part of the

valuable goodwill and property of TracFone, and are well known and established to customers

and the trade as symbols identifying and distinguishing TracFone's services and signifying

distinctive services of exceptional quality .

24. Defendants' aforementioned conduct entailed use of the marks without

authorization in connection with the sale and offering for sale of their hacked and modified

TracFone handsets, which downstream customers will discover are not capable of use with the

TracFone prepaid wireless service .

25 . Defendants' use of TracFone's marks in connection with the sale of hacked and

modified TracFone handsets has caused, and will further cause, a likelihood of confusion,

mistake and deception as to the source of origin of Defendants' products, as to the relationship

between TracFone and Defendants ; and Defendants' unauthorized use is likely to continue in the

future, all to the great and irreparable damage to the business, reputation and goodwill of

TracFone .

26. Defendants' use of the TracFone trademark in connection with the hacked and

modified TracFone handsets, which are no longer capable of use with the TracFone prepaid

wireless service, constitutes a misappropriation of TracFone's distinguishing and identifying

marks that were created as a result of effort and expense by TracFone over a long period of time .

Defendant's use evokes an immediate, favorable impression or association and constitutes a false

representation that the products and business of Defendants have some connection, association,

or affiliation with TracFone, and thus constitutes false designation of origin .

27. Defendants, in committing the foregoing acts in commerce, have damaged and

will continue to damage TracFone and the reputation and goodwill of TracFone, and each has
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unjustly enriched and will continue to unjustly enrich itself at the expense of TracFone .

TracFone is without an adequate remedy at law to redress such acts , and will be irreparably

damaged unless Defendants are enjoined from committing and continuing to commit such acts .

28 . As a complete ground for relief, the Defendan ts ' aforesaid acts constitute

infringement of TracFone ' s federally registered trademarks in violation of 15 U.S .C . § 1114 .

COUNT TWO
FEDERAL UNFAIR COMPETITIO N

29 . TracFone incorporates and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-28 above .

30 . As a complete ground for relief, the Defendants ' aforesaid acts constitute unfair

competition in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) .

COUNT THREE
INJURY TO BUSINESS REPUTATION AND DILUTION OF MARK

31 . TracFone incorporates and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-20 above .

32. TracFone is the largest provider of prepaid wireless telephone service in the

United States . It is in the business of and has earned a reputation for providing its customers

with high quality prepaid wireless telephone service .

33. The TracFone prepaid wireless phones that Defendants unlocked and resold as

new are branded with the TracFone name .

34. Defendants' sale of altered TracFone prepaid wireless phones as new products

carrying the TracFone trademark harms TracFone's goodwill and business reputation because

the handsets can no longer operate as TracFone intended and cannot access the TracFone prepaid

wireless service. Purchasers of the altered handsets are likely to attribute malfunctions and poor

service due to Defendants' alterations to TracFone .
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35 . Purchasers are also likely to contact TracFone's customer care department with

complaints and questions, causing TracFone to incur substantial costs associated with responding

to such inquiries. In addition, TracFone's customer service personnel will be diverted from

assisting TracFone's legitimate customers, thereby causing additional harm to TracFone's

business reputation and goodwill as a result of Defendants' misconduct .

36. Defendants' continued sale of altered TracFone prepaid wireless handset units is

likely to injure TracFone's business reputation and dilute the distinctive quality of their marks,

trade names, or labels in violation of § 495 .151, Fla. Stat .

37. TracFone requests preliminary and permanent injunctive relief against Defendants

pursuant to § 495 .1 5 1, Fla. Stat .

COUNT FOUR
UNFAIR COMPETITION AND DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES

38 . TracFone incorporates and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-20 above .

39. Defendants' conduct in purchasing TracFone prepaid cellular phones, disabling or

removing the TracFone Prepaid Software from those prepaid phones, then reselling those phones

constitutes an unfair method of competition, an unconscionable act or practice, and/or an unfair

or deceptive act or practice in violation of § 501 .204, Fla . Stat .

40 . In addition, the TracFone prepaid cellular phones that Defendants unlocked and

resold as new are branded with the TracFone name . Defendants' sale of altered TracFone

prepaid wireless phones as new products carrying the TracFone trademark constitutes an unfair

method of competition, an unconscionable act or practice, and/or an unfair or deceptive act or

practice in violation on § 501 .204, Fla . Stat .
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41 . TracFone has suffered damage as a direct and proximate result of Defendants'

conduct . Pursuant to § 501 .211, TracFone is entitled to enjoin Defendants from any further

violations of this section. Section 501 .211 further provides that TracFone is entitled to recover

its actual damages, plus attorneys' fees and court costs .

COUNT FIVE
CIRCUMVENTION OF TECHNOLOGICAL MEASURES THAT

CONTROL ACCESS TO PROPRIETARY SOFTWARE
(TRACFONE PREPAID SOFTWARE)

42 . TracFone incorporates and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-20 above .

43 . The TracFone Prepaid Software contains technological measures that in the

ordinary course of the measures ' operation require the application of information , or a process or

a treatment , with TracFone ' s authority , to gain access to the proprietary software as set fo rth in

17 U.S.C. § 1201 .

44. The TracFone Prepaid Software contains technological measures that effectively

control access to the proprietary software .

45. TracFone did not give Defend ants authority to descramble or decrypt or otherwise

to avoid, bypass, remove , disable, deactivate , or impair the technological measures for

effectively controlling access to and operation of the TracFone Prepaid Software .

46. TracFone did not grant Defendants the authority to circumvent the technological

measures for effectively controlling access to the TracFone Prepaid Software .

47. Defendants avoided , bypassed , removed, disabled , deactivated , or impaired a

technological measure for effectively controlling access to the proprietary software within the

TracFone Prepaid Software without TracFone ' s authority .
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48 . Defendants circumvented a technological measure that effectively controls access

to the TracFone Prepaid Software that is protected under title 17 of the United States Code, and

thereby violated 17 U .S.C. § 1201(a)(1).

49. Defendants' actions have caused and, unless restrained , will continue to cause

TracFone severe, immediate , and irreparable injury and damages for which TracFone has no

adequate remedy at law. TracFone is entitled to injunctive relief restraining such conduct, an

award of damages, including punitive damages, as well as other equitable and legal relief .

COUNT SIX
TRAFFICKING IN SERVICES THAT CIRCUMVENT

TECHNOLOGICAL MEASURES PROTECTING PROPRIETARY SOFTWAR E

50. TracFone incorporates and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-20 above .

51 . Defendants are in possession of certain instrumentalities that avoid, bypass,

remove, disable, deactivate, or otherwise impair the technological measures within the TracFone

Prepaid Software that effectively control access to the proprietary software .

52. Defendants have trafficked in the service of circumventing the technological

measures that protect the TracFone Proprietary Software from alteration or modification .

53 . Individuals purchasing altered phones from Defendants purchase both the

TracFone prepaid wireless phone and the service of circumventing the technological measures

that protect the TracFone Prepaid Software from alteration or modification provided by

Defendants or co-conspirators .

54. Accordingly, Defendants have trafficked and continue to traffic in the service of

circumventing TracFone's technological measures that effectively control access to TracFone's

proprietary software by offering to the public its alteration service for a fee .
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55. The service of altering the TracFone Prepaid Software in TracFone prepaid

wireless phones is primarily designed or produced for the purpose of circumventing the

technological measures that effectively control access to TracFone's proprietary software, which

is protected under title 17 of the United States Code .

56. Accordingly, Defendants have violated and continue to violate Section

1201(a)(2)(A) of the Copyright Act and, as a result, TracFone has been irreparably injured and

will continue to be irreparably injured unless the violating activities of Defendants are enjoined

by this Court.

57. The service of altering the TracFone Prepaid Software has, at most, only a limited

commercially significant purpose or use other than circumventing TracFone's technological

measures that effectively control access to TracFone's proprietary software that is protected

under title 17 of the United States Code .

58 . Therefore, Defendants have violated and continue to violate Section

1201(a)(2)(B) of the Copyright Act and, as a result, TracFone has been irreparably injured and

will continue to be irreparably injured unless the violating activities of Defendants are enjoined

by this Court .

COUNT SEVE N
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH BUSINESS

RELATIONSHIPS AND PROSPECTIVE ADVANTAG E

59. TracFone incorporates and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-20 above .

60. A business relationship and an expectancy of business relationships exist between

TracFone and the purchasers and prospective purchasers of its phones and service .

61 . There exists a high probability of future economic benefit to TracFone as a result

of these present and prospective relationships .
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62. Defendants have knowledge of and have intentionally and unjustifiably interfered

with the relationships and with prospective relationships between TracFone and its customers .

Specifically, but without limitation, Defendants knew that TracFone prepaid wireless phones are

designed for the use by TracFone customers for TracFone service . Defendants are intentionally

interfering with these relationships through improper means and in violation of the law .

63 . But for Defendants' conduct, TracFone was reasonably certain to have continued

its business relationships and prospective relationships with its customers .

64. TracFone has been damaged and continues to be damaged as a result of

Defendants' interference .

COUNT EIGHT
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH THE BUSINESS

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TRACFONE AND NOKIA

65 . TracFone incorporates and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-20 above .

66. A business relationship exists between TracFone and Nokia .

67 . TracFone contracts with Nokia for the production of handsets specially designed

for use only by TracFone customers to access TracFone's prepaid wireless service . Defendants

have defeated and continue to defeat the purpose of these contracts by erasing or disabling the

TracFone Prepaid Software and thereby preventing the handsets from accessing TracFone's

prepaid wireless service . As a result, Defendants have jeopardized TracFone's business

relationship with Nokia.

68. Defendants have knowledge of and have intentionally and unjustifiably interfered

with the relationship between TracFone and Nokia . Specifically, but without limitation,

Defendants knew that TracFone prepaid wireless phones are designed for the use by TracFone
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customers for TracFone service . Defendants are intentionally interfering with this relationship

through improper means and in violation of the law .

69 . TracFone has been irreparably harmed and continues to be damaged as a result of

Defendants' interference .

WHEREFORE, TracFone respectfully requests that this Cou rt enter final judgment in

favor of TracFone and against Defendants for the damages it sustained , treble the amount of

actual damages in accord ance with applicable law, an accounting for all profits received by each

Defendant in connection with its conduct , injunctive relief, and for its attorneys ' fees and costs,

and order any further relief as this Court deems just and proper .

/Steven J .
Florida B ber 333069
James B. 1dinger'Im
Florida Bar Number 869899
CARLTON FIELDS, P.A .
P .O. Box 150
West Palm Beach, FL 33402-0150
Telephone: 561 .659.7070
Facsimile: 561 .659.7368

Attorneys for TracFone Wireless, Inc .
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